IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NO. 78,349

JERRY LAYNE ROGERS,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR ST. JOHNS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 0125540

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0754773

KENNETH D. DRIGGS Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 304700

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 487-4376

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 4, 1982 an armed robbery occurred at a Winn-Dixie Store in St. Augustine, St Johns County, Florida. The robbery occurred shortly before the store was to close. During the course of the robbery one of the cashiers, Ketsy Day Suppinger, had difficulty opening her cash register, which therefore slowed the robbery's progress (R. 6217). Accordingly, the robbers abandoned the attempt after being in the store for a short period of time. Store manager David Eugene Smith exited the Winn-Dixie's rear door and confronted the robbers as they were fleeing the store. It was at this point that Mr. Smith was shot and killed by one of the robbers, who then fled the area in a car which was parked in a lot at the Holiday Inn next door. 1

On April 12, 1982, Messrs. Rogers and McDermid were arrested for the robbery of a Publix Supermarket on April 7, 1982. After their arrests on this charge, witnesses to other robberies were shown photopaks which contained Mr. Rogers' photograph. As a result of photopak identifications, Rogers and McDermid were then charged with the robberies of a Daniels Market, a Captain D's Restaurant, and a Pizza Hut Restaurant—all in Orlando. They were also charged with robbing an Action TV store in Seminole

There is no question that the Winn-Dixie was robbed on January 4, 1982, and that Mr. Smith was killed during the robbers' attempt to flee the scene. At trial, the issue was whether Mr. Rogers was one of the robbers. Mr. Rogers has maintained from the outset that he was not involved in this crime, but that someone else committed the robbery along with Thomas J. McDermid who testified for the State at Mr. Rogers' trial. It has been Mr. Rogers' contention all along that Mr. McDermid has wrongly identified Mr. Rogers in order to get a favorable deal for himself and/or to protect the real accomplice.

County.² Mr. Rogers was convicted based upon the testimony of the co-defendant, McDermid, who entered into a plea agreement immediately prior to trial. The trial on the Orlando Publix robbery ended in a mistrial when the McDermid repeatedly violated court orders not to mention the existence of other robberies. Prior to the retrial of that case, the trial court reversed its position and allowed introduction of the Williams Rule testimony into evidence. This evidence was admitted and Mr. Rogers was thereupon convicted of that robbery.³

On December 19, 1983, almost two years after the crime and after the above three (3) convictions were secured, Jerry Layne Rogers was charged by indictment with the first degree murder of David Eugene Smith. The State gave notice that it intended to introduce <u>Williams</u> Rule evidence in the trial and Mr. Rogers objected (R. 765-66). The trial court granted the State's motion to allow the testimony, citing what it perceived as ten (10) different areas of similarities between the cases (R. 2986-87).

Due to Mr. Rogers' past experiences with appointed counsel, he requested at his arraignment that he be allowed to present his case himself; however, he also requested that he be provided with the assistance of court-appointed counsel (R. 4688-89). The

²Initially, the <u>State</u> took the position that since the cases were not sufficiently similar it would <u>not</u> introduce <u>Williams</u> Rule evidence into the trial under the "modus operandi" theory (Daniels R. 479). On November 30, 1982, the trial court ruled that the evidence was not admissible under any circumstances (Daniels R. 605). Accordingly, no <u>Williams</u> Rule testimony was introduced at the first two trials, Daniels Market and Captain D's Restaurant.

³Mr. Rogers was acquitted in the Seminole County case (Action TV). The Orange County Pizza Hut case was nolle prossed.

trial court therefore appointed Ralph Elliott, and David Tumin as counsel (R. 4686). The court conducted a brief inquiry into Mr. Rogers' education and legal experience (R. 4710-12). At no time was Mr. Rogers examined by a mental health expert to determine his ability to represent himself. Likewise, the offer of counsel was never renewed at any subsequent proceeding.

Trial of this case began on October 29, 1984. Significantly, only one witness, Ketsy Day Suppinger, from the Winn-Dixie testified on the State's behalf. The State presented numerous witnesses from the other robberies in order to prove Williams rule evidence. The only evidence, besides Suppinger's testimony, directly linking Mr. Rogers to the Winn-Dixie robbery was the testimony of co-defendant McDermid.

Mr. Rogers' defense was that he was not involved in any of the crimes with which he was charged. However, material evidence on this point was withheld from the defense. First, what was not known during the trial was that McDermid had, in fact, given a

⁴Initially, Supinger had been unable to identify Mr. Rogers photograph. She was only able to narrow the possibilities to two photographs. Following a deposition conducted by Mr. Rogers, her identification became more positive. Rogers, 511 So. 2d at 532.

McDermid testified in compliance with the deal he made prior to the Daniels Market trial. In exchange for his testimony he was not charged with the murder and received only fifteen (15) years for his actions in St. Augustine. This sentence was concurrent with the sentences he received for the other robberies. The sentence for the other robberies he pled to was twenty years, but again all sentences were concurrent (R. 6573-74). McDermid implicated Mr. Rogers as the shooter, although McDermid stated that he did not actually see the shooting occur. Undisclosed to Rogers at trial was a taped interview on June 19, 1984 between the Assistant State Attorney, the investigating police officer, and McDermid, wherein McDermid was encouraged to testify in a fashion implicating Rogers as the shooter (PC-R. 1011-33).

second confession. The first confession prior to the deal did not implicate Mr. Rogers in any of the robberies. The second and undisclosed confession implicated Rogers in fifty-four (54) robberies. This confession occurred less than a month after Mr. Rogers was indicted for the Winn-Dixie murder (PC-R. 708). Also undisclosed was the fact that in one of the robberies in which Mr. Rogers was named by McDermid, eyewitnesses claimed McDermid's accomplice was a black man⁶ (PC-R. 711, 1621-33).

Second, the identity of another suspect, George Cope, was withheld from the defense. This suspect not only had been arrested for one of the crimes in which McDermid implicated Mr. Rogers, but he also facially resembled Mr. Rogers. In fact, he matched the robber's physical description than Mr. Rogers. Furthermore, his time cards, which had been obtained by the police, showed that he did not work on the day of the murder (PC-R. 849). Numerous witnesses identified Cope in other robberies to which McDermid confessed (and implicated Mr. Rogers); yet, all of his cases were nolle prossed (PC-R. 2101, 2144). Cope had been incarcerated for four (4) months prior to his release (PC-R. 2234-5). Cope's name was not disclosed despite the fact Cope had been a prime suspect in the homicide as police reports revealed in the post-conviction process show.

On November 13, 1984 the jury returned a verdict finding Rogers guilty on the charge of first degree murder. Mr. Rogers was devastated upon the return of the guilty verdict. As a result, it appeared to his attorneys as though he had totally

⁶Mr. Rogers is white.

lost interest in the proceedings. Trial counsel did not bring this to the trial court's attention (PC-R. 4030-31). When the penalty phase began on the next day, Mr. Rogers asked counsel to handle the proceedings for him (PC-R. 4029-30). Mr. Rogers' trial counsel thereupon conducted the penalty phase without having investigated. Counsel did not ask for a continuance to prepare for this aspect of the trial (PC-R. 4026-30).

Following a death recommendation, the trial court imposed the death sentence upon Mr. Rogers on December 5, 1984. This Court affirmed Mr. Rogers' conviction and sentence of death on direct appeal. Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1987).

On January 11, 1990, Mr. Rogers timely filed a Rule 3.850 motion. An evidentiary hearing was conducted in bifurcated proceedings. The hearings were held on Mr. Rogers' claims under Brady, Strickland, and Faretta. The initial hearing began on October 24, 1990 and ended on October 25, 1990. At this hearing, Ralph Tumin testified about his representation of Mr. Rogers.

On April 22, 1991, the hearing reconvened. Collateral counsel advised the court of the fact that they had just been

Neither of Mr. Rogers' counsel had ever tried a post-<u>Furman</u> capital case (PC-R. 4021-22, 269-70). Only seven pages of mitigating evidence was presented to the jury. This evidence was limited to the testimony of Mr. Rogers' wife, Debra, and Mr. Rogers himself (R. 8300-07). The jury learned about Mr. Rogers' service in the military, as well as his life as a husband and father; however, they learned nothing about his impoverished background and abusive upbringing. Neither did they learn of the impact that these conditions had upon his mental health. The jury was given five aggravating circumstances, four of which were inapplicable, to weigh against the mitigation presented in determining what sentence to recommend. Not surprisingly with four invalid extra thumbs on the death side of the scale the jury recommended death.

assigned to the case and that they were unprepared to move forward (PC-R. 3849-50, 4171-72). Indeed, none of the attorneys on the case had been assigned to it long enough to have been able to read the record or to otherwise know the entire case (PC-R. 3943). While acknowledging the fact that there were ninety (90) boxes of defense material in the courtroom, the court refused to grant the requested continuance and ordered the hearing to proceed (PC-R. 3851). As the hearing progressed, the court became increasingly hostile to collateral counsel. At one point, the court stated that it was afraid that the counsel's conduct may require corrective action; however, when asked by counsel for a clarification, the court refused the same (PC-R. The court did not clarify the situation until after the witness testified, alluding to problems encountered during the trial (PC-R. 4296-97). The court therefore attempted to create a sanctionable issue when it already knew that counsel had not read the trial record, and had asked for the court's assistance in resolving the problem (PC-R. 4296-97).

Later in the hearing, collateral counsel learned that the judge had advised trial counsel in chambers that Mr. Rogers' presentation of <u>Brady</u> evidence was futile, because the judge had already decided to deny his <u>Brady</u> claim (PC-R. 4422-47). The defense moved to recuse the judge, based upon the comments, which were made to a material witness. The judge thereupon repeatedly denied the existence of any such conversations (PC-R. 4424). At

⁸In fact, previously assigned counsel had left CCR's employ and were unavailable to assist in preparing for the evidentiary hearing.

the State's insistence, witnesses subsequently testified on the issue of the court's behavior (PC-R. 4432-4440, 4442-44). The judge refused to enforce the sequestration rule and allowed a court's witness to testify (PC-R. 4442). The judge later denied the recusal motion (PC-R. 4446).

At the conclusion of the hearing post-hearing memoranda were requested and filed. The court denied Mr. Rogers' 3.850 in a written order dated June 24, 1991. This appeal followed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- I. Mr. Rogers was denied a full and fair hearing on his Rule 3.850 motion. The judge here denied a timely motion to recuse based upon the appearance of an improper ex parte communication between the judge and a defense witness to the effect that continuing with the hearing was a waste of time because he had already made up his mind. The judge also denied Mr. Rogers' motion to continue the hearing because he was being represented by attorneys completely unfamiliar with his case.
- II. Mr. Rogers' conviction violated the sixth, eighth, and fourteenth amendments because the state withheld substantial amounts of significant discovery materials relating to other suspects, arrests, physical descriptions, and deals with the state's key witness in the crime contrary to Brady v. Maryland.
- III. Mr. Rogers' waiver of his sixth amendment right to counsel was inadequate and did not meet the requirements of Faretta in that it was both a knowing and intelligent waiver. Additionally, Mr. Rogers' mental condition did not allow for a knowing and intelligent waiver at any point in the trial.
- IV. Trial counsel did not provide effective assistance during the guilt phase of Mr. Rogers' trial in violation of the sixth, eighth and fourteenth amendments.
- V. The introduction against Mr. Rogers of evidence of other crimes was inflammatory, irrelevant, and prejudicial in violation of the fifth, sixth, eighth and fourteenth amendments.
- VI. The State's destruction of critical material evidence deprived Mr. Rogers of his fifth, sixth, eighth and fourteenth amendment rights.
- VII. The State's unconstitutional use of a jailhouse informant against Mr. Rogers was contrary to <u>United States v.</u>

<u>Henry</u> and violated his rights under the fifth, sixth, eighth and fourteenth amendments.

- VIII. Mr. Rogers' right to confront Mr. Edmundson, a witness against him, was denied when the court allowed Mr. Edmundson to testify through a taped conversation without the ability to cross examine him.
- IX. The prosecutor's inflammatory, emotional, and thoroughly improper comment and argument to the jury rendered Mr. Rogers' conviction and death sentence in violation of the sixth, eighth and fourteenth amendments.
- X. Mr. Rogers' capital conviction and death sentence violate the fifth, sixth, eighth and fourteenth amendments because the jury was unreliably and constitutionally instructed.
- XI. <u>Espinosa v. Florida</u> establishes that Mr. Rogers' death sentence was the product of unconstitutional jury instructions and the improper application of statutory aggravating circumstances.
- XII. Mr. Rogers was denied effective assistance of counsel by his attorneys' failure to adequately investigate the facts and research the law of penalty phase, thus rendering the death sentence unreliable.
- XIII. Mr. Rogers' sentencing jury was repeatedly misled by instructions and arguments which unconstitutionally and inaccurately diluted their sense of responsibility for sentencing. Counsel was ineffective in failing to litigate this issue.
- XIV. The jury was improperly instructed that mercy and sympathy towards Mr. Rogers was not a proper consideration and that the legislature intended that he be executed. Counsel's failure to object was ineffective assistance.
- XV. The shifting of the burden of proof in the jury instructions at sentencing deprived Mr. Rogers of his rights under the eighth and fourteenth amendments. Counsel's failure to object was ineffective assistance.
- XVI. Mr. Rogers' jury and judge were provided with and relied upon misinformation of constitutional magnitude in violation of <u>Johnson v. Mississippi</u>, and the fifth, sixth, eighth, and fourteenth amendments.

ARGUMENT I

MR. ROGERS WAS DENIED A FULL AND FAIR HEARING ON HIS RULE 3.850 MOTION TO VACATE IN VIOLATION OF THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA AND THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

A. RECUSAL DENIAL

During the 3.850 evidentiary hearing, Mr. Rogers to move to disqualify the presiding judge. A witness, David Tumin, stated that prior to testifying he discussed the above-entitled case with the presiding judge who indicated he had already made up his mind against Mr. Rogers. Mr. Tumin indicated that, in the judge's opinion, presenting further evidence was a waste of time. The Code of Judicial Conduct states: "A judge should [] neither initiate nor consider ex parte or other communications concerning a pending or impending proceeding." Fla. Bar Code Jud. Conduct, Canon 3 A(4) (emphasis supplied).

The ex parte conversation with Mr. Tumin, a witness, indicated prejudice against the defendant. Mr. Tumin, who was trial counsel, was a pivotal witness at the evidentiary hearing. The trier of fact cannot have ex parte

This statement regarding the trial judge was consistent with the court's prior statements contained in a January 15, 1988 letter from Judge Weinberg to Carolyn W. Tibbetts concerning clemency for Mr. Rogers (PC-R. 3755).

David Tumin was appointed along with Ralph Elliot to represent Mr. Rogers at his original trial. Mr. Tumin, who lived outside of the circuit, was a personal friend of the trial judge and undertook this representation partly in response to that friendship. Mr. Tumin was called as a witness to testify regarding Mr. Rogers' Brady claim. It is undisputed that upon arrival at the courthouse and before testifying Mr. Tumin entered chambers for a social exchange with the (PC-R. 4423). When he exited, Mr. Tumin told Jeff Walsh, a CCR investigator that the judge said Mr. Tumin's testimony would be a waste because he had (continued...)

communications with material witnesses. For that reason alone, recusal is required. Love v. State, 569 So. 2d 807 (1st DCA 1990); Rose v. State, 601 So. 1181 (Fla. 1992); McKenzie v. Risley, 915 F.2d 1396 (9th Cir. 1990). Here, the judge expressed prejudgment of the matter at issue. The judge's statement gives rise to a well grounded fear warranting recusal. When taken in context, the judge's comment created the impression that Mr. Rogers would not and could not receive a full and fair hearing.

The Assistant State Attorney assumed the role of advocate in defense of the judge (PC-R. 4430-31). The prosecutor called the judge's bailiff as a witness on behalf of the judge. However, the bailiff had been present throughout the prior testimony despite Mr. Rogers' invocation of the rule of sequestration (PC-R. 4442). The bailiff was allowed to testify and dispute Mr. Tumin's recollections (PC-R. 4442-44). Thereafter, the trial judge denied his own partiality and denied the conversation with Mr. Tumin at length and suggested that collateral counsel had acted irresponsibly in making the motion to recuse (PC-R. 4424-28). The discussion became so heated that a recess was required

^{10 (...}continued) already made up his mind against Mr. Rogers (PC-R. 4432-35). Under oath, Mr. Tumin acknowledged that he had discussed Mr. Rogers' case with the judge and that the judge's comments indicated that Mr. Rogers was not likely to gain relief (PC-R. 4423).

¹¹Mr. Rogers asserted that this procedure was not proper under <u>Suarez v. Dugger</u>, 527 So. 2d 190 (Fla. 1988), wherein it was held if the motion was sufficient on its face recusal was required. Accordingly, Mr. Rogers did not cross-examine the witnesses called to challenge "the truth of the allegations." <u>Suarez</u>, 527 So. 2d at 191.

(PC-R. 4425). When court again convened, Mr. Rogers renewed the motion and it was denied (PC-R. 4425). 12

The First District Court of Appeal addressed the issue of judicial prejudice and ex parte communications as follows:

A judge must not only be impartial, he must leave the impression of impartiality upon all those who attend court. Anderson v. State, 287 So.2d 322 (Fla. 1st DCA 1973). "The attitude of the judge and the atmosphere of the courtroom should indeed be such that no matter what charge is lodged against a litigant or what cause he is called on to litigate, he can approach the bar with every assurance. . . . [A] fair and impartial trial can mean nothing less than this." State ex rel. Davis, supra, 194 So. at 615.

Love v. State, 569 So. 2d at 809.

In <u>Suarez v. Dugger</u>, 527 So. 2d 190 (Fla. 1988), the judge made statements which caused the Defendant to fear he would not receive a fair trial. This Court found recusal was required:

The judge with respect to whom a motion to disqualify is made may only determine whether the motion is legally sufficient and is not allowed to pass on the truth of the allegations. Livingston v. State, 441 So. 2d 1083 (Fla. 1983); Bundy v. Rudd, 366 So. 2d 440 (Fla. 1978). As we noted in Livingston, "a party seeking to disqualify a judge need only show 'a well grounded fear that he will not receive a fair trial at the hands of the judge. It is not a question of how

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