SID J. WHITE

40V 19 1992 \

CLERK, SUPPEME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JERRY LAYNE ROGERS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 78,349

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ST. JOHNS COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #410519
210 N. Palmetto Avenue
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

This same argument was raised in <u>Muhammed v. State</u>, 494 So. 2d 969, 974 (Fla. 1986) where the defendant alleged that the

judge failed to question whether he was competent to waive counsel and conduct his own defense. The Florida Supreme Court held that the Faretta standard does not require a determination that a defendant meet some special competency requirement as to his ability to represent himself. The court also noted that inherent in the appellant's argument was the assumption that the level of competency necessary to waive counsel is greater than the level required to simply stand trial, but found that competency to waive counsel is at the very least the same as competency to stand trial. Id. at 975. See also, Hamblen v. Dugger, 546 So. 2d 1039 (Fla. 1989). The continuous presence of two standby attorneys assured that Rogers was not deprived of any Harrell v. State, 486 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986). right.

POINT IV

ROGERS WAS NOT DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE GUILT PHASE.

Rogers has failed to establish ineffective assistance as required by <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). In order to obtain reversal of a conviction based on ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must show 1) that counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and 2) that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 694. Rogers has failed to establish either prong.

Rogers insisted in representing himself, assuming all the responsibilities of that representation. When a defendant decides to represent himself, he cannot come in after-the-fact and complain of ineffective representation. See, State v. Capetta, 216 So. 2d 749 (Fla. 1968). The record shows that Rogers conducted the trial, made objections and cross examined witnesses. In Bundy v. State, 497 So. 2d 1209, 1210 (Fla. 1986) the court stated:

As noted by the United States Supreme Court in Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 834 n. 46, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 2541 n. 46, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975), "Whatever else may or may not be open to him on appeal a defendant who elects to represent himself cannot thereafter complain that the quality of his own defense amounted to a denial of 'effective assistance of counsel.'"

In <u>Goode v. State</u>, 403 So. 2d 931, 933 (Fla. 1981), the court addressed a situation similar to the present one as follows:

Appellant was the architect of his defense at trial. The record he demonstrates that knowingly waived his right to counsel, and was made fully aware of the perils of self-representation. The court appointed an attorney for the purpose of giving legal advice when needed, and appellant did not object arrangement. the Clearly, appellant acted as his own attorney, and we do not believe that he may now complain that his "co-counsel," provided for the purpose of giving advice upon request, ineffectively "co-represented" him and denied him a fair trial.

The testimony at the evidentiary hearing shows that Rogers was the captain of his own ship and Mr. Tumin and Mr. Elliott simply ran errands and assisted. Rogers conducted his own discovery and was aware of what occurred in prior trials. Rogers cannot show deficient performance on the part of his assisting attorneys since he chose to represent himself. Rogers has neither alleged nor demonstrated prejudice. See Roberts v. State, 568 So. 2d 1255 (Fla. 1990). Rogers conducted essentially all cross examination of witnesses, so assisting counsel cannot be blamed for any error in cross examination. Bundy v. State, 497 So. 2d 1209, 1210 (Fla. 1986). The record shows that there was voluminous discovery. Furthermore, Rogers insisted that all discovery be sent directly to him and he personally conducted discovery (R 17, 18, 380, 387, 4697-4699). He was present at the prior trials and was aware of any prior inconsistent statements.

Rogers cannot show deficient performance on the part of assisting counsel or how the alleged deficiency prejudiced him. In fact, Rogers failed to demonstrate that he had not received this information. Rogers was also well-versed in the facts of the Daniels' and Publix robberies because he was a defendant. represented himself in the Publix robbery, and the Daniels case was used as similar fact evidence in that trial. He cannot say that counsel was ineffective for failing to be informed of the facts, because he conducted the defense at trial and was intimately familiar with the facts. The record shows he made every effort to undermine the reliability of the Publix and Daniels convictions, but the state's evidence was simply too Rogers conducted the Williams rule hearing, so any strong. deficiency is of Rogers' own making (R 4837-5536). Bundy v. State, 497 So. 2d 1209 (Fla. 1986); Goode v. State, 403 So. 2d Rogers' conclusory allegation that the trial 931 (Fla. 1981). was lost because counsel lost the Williams rule hearing, is insufficient to establish prejudice. This issue is raised in an attempt to relitigate an issue which was decided in Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1986), which is improper. Ouince v. State, 477 So. 2d 535 (Fla. 1985); Clark v. State, 460 So. 2d 886 (Fla. 1984).

At the evidentiary hearing, Rogers presented voluminous materials and alleged he would have presented testimony on all collateral crimes to which McDermid confessed. This argument is inconsistent with the claim that all <u>Williams</u> rule evidence should have been excluded.

The testimony at the evidentiary hearing showed that Rogers was in control and Mr. Tumin and Mr. Elliott were assistants only. Therefore, they cannot be deficient. Furthermore, even if everything Rogers now alleges had been done, the outcome would not have been different. See Correll v. Dugger, 558 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 1990); Buenoano v. Dugger, 559 So. 2d 1116 (Fla. 1990); Provenzano v. Dugger, 561 So. 2d 541 (Fla. 1990); Roberts v. State, 568 So. 2d 1255 (Fla. 1990). The claim of ineffective assistance must fail.

The trial judge made the following factual findings:

There was no question during the trial proceedings that Mr. Rogers was thoroughly familiar with Criminal Rules of Procedure. He had represented himself successfully previous to this trial, and had obtained an acquittal of an armed robbery charge in Seminole County, Florida. The ability of Mr. Rogers to file motions, conduct examination of witnesses, brief the law and otherwise maintain decorum before the Court was questioned by anyone, until the Post Conviction Relief Proceeding. By obtaining the services of Messrs. Tumin and Elliott, the Court did all it could to maintain fairness for the defendant. It is interesting to note that during the hearings (on post conviction) Mr. Rogers chose not to testify and offer any contradictory evidence that he was incapable of self-representation. Messrs. Tumin and Elliott verified the legal ability of Mr. Rogers. The main thrust of their testimony was they were "ineffective" during the penalty phase of the trial after the Jury Verdict of Guilty. This conclusory statement is not supported. Mr. Rogers called witnesses during the penalty phase, and although they were questioned by Mr. Tumin and Mr. Elliott, the Sentencing Jury was made aware of Mr. Rogers' effort to mitigate Although Counsel became "runners" the sentence. and "assistors" for Mr. Rogers, they graciously accepted the task without rancor or objection. Both testified about his knowledge of Court decisions, procedure and rules. Rogers was thoroughly familiar with WILLIAMS rule evidence as to similar fact matters. It is true that since

Rogers denied all involvement and maintained he was not in St. Augustine at the time of the murder, he expressed this attitude during the penalty phase, which would necessarily restrict his or counsel's ability to seek "mercy" from the Jury as to their recommendation. Mental disease or infirmity was never at issue during any part of the trial, including the penalty phase. never offered any defense of mental Rogers infirmity, nor did he do so at the Post Conviction Relief Proceeding . Mr. Tumin testified he was at times articulate, logical and including the penalty phase. . . . The main focus of his defense was "alibi" and to break down the testimony of Tom McDermid, who was in his company during the aborted armed robbery. He was in front of Rogers when he shot the victim during the flight from the crime scene at the Winn-Dixie Store in St. Augustine.

.

The only emotional outburst at trial was during the time of testimony of his wife when she volunteered that Mr. McDermid had tried to sexually assault her. Rogers bolted from the Courtroom, but calmed after the recess. The Jury might have concluded that this was staged theatre to gain sympathy rather than accept this non-relevant fact involving the murder of the store manager.

. . . .

The legal proceedings conducted by Rogers with the assistance of Tumin and Elliott were thorough, extensive and detailed. They went far beyond that of a "routine" case albeit capital in nature. A brief, cursory examination of the volume of material generated by Mr. Rogers' efforts in his case supports this conclusion.

(PC-R 3799-3801).

The trial judge concluded Rogers failed to meet the Strickland test and could not complain of ineffective assistance since he chose to represent himself (PC-R 3815).

POINT V

THE ISSUE REGARDING WILLIAMS RULE EVIDENCE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

The issue regarding the <u>Williams</u> rule is procedurally barred. <u>Engle v. Dugger</u>, 576 So. 2d 696 (Fla. 1991); <u>Medina v. State</u>, 573 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1990); <u>Correll v. Dugger</u>, 558 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 1990); <u>Smith v. Dugger</u>, 565 So. 2d 1293 (Fla. 1990); <u>Buenoano v. State</u>, 559 So. 2d 1116 (Fla. 1990); <u>Henderson v. Dugger</u>, 522 So. 2d 835 (Fla. 1988). This court found on direct appeal the evidence of collateral crimes was properly admitted. <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So. 2d 526, 531 (Fla. 1987). Raising the issue as a collateral estoppel issue will not resurrect a barred and meritless claim.

POINT VI

ROGERS WAS NOT DENIED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS DUE TO THE DESTRUCTION OF EVIDENCE.

Rogers claims collateral counsel "discovered" unidentified fingerprints in the Publix robbery which were subsequently destroyed in violation of Rogers' constitutional rights.

This allegation is insufficient on its face. Kennedy v. State, 547 So. 2d 912 (Fla. 1989). Furthermore, Rogers was aware of the unidentified fingerprints and argued their existence at trial (R 6994, 8152). Additionally, Rogers has failed to show bad faith destruction of evidence which is the burden he bears. See Arizona v. Youngblood, 109 S.Ct. 333 (1988). The letter from the Orange County Sheriff's Department in the record shows the

Sheriff's Office purged all files from 1985 back, not just Rogers' (PC-R 988).

POINT VII

THE ISSUE REGARDING A JAILHOUSE INFORMANT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

The issue regarding the letter produced by Billy Roberts is procedurally barred for failure to raise it on direct appeal. Engle v. Dugger, 576 So. 2d 696 (Fla. 1991); Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1990); Correll v. Dugger, 558 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 1990); Smith v. Dugger, 565 So. 2d 1293 (Fla. 1990); Buenoano v. State, 559 So. 2d 1116 (Fla. 1990); Henderson v. Dugger, 522 So. 2d 835 (Fla. 1988). The allegations are insufficient and not supported by facts. Engle, supra; Kennedy v. State, 547 So. 2d 912 (Fla. 1989).

The letter was proper impeachment evidence since Rogers took the stand and testified. Erhardt, Florida Evidence §608.1 (Second Edition, 1984); Booker v. State, 397 So. 2d 910 (Fla. 1981).

POINT VIII

THE ISSUE REGARDING CONFRONTATION OF MR. EDMUNDSON IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

The issue regarding confrontation is procedurally barred.

Engle v. Dugger, 576 So. 2d 696 (Fla. 1991); Medina v. State, 573

So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1990); Correll v. Dugger, 558 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 1990); Smith v. Dugger, 565 So. 2d 1293 (Fla. 1990); Buenoano v. State, 559 So. 2d 1116 (Fla. 1990); Henderson v. Dugger, 522 So.

2d 835 (Fla. 1988). In order to have prevailed on direct appeal on this issue, Rogers would have had to have shown an abuse of discretion. Hardwick v. State, 521 So. 2d 1071 (Fla. 1988); Welty v. State, 402 So. 2d 1159 (Fla. 1981). This Court disposed of similar evidentiary issues on direct appeal, and this issue would not have been decided differently. Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1987).

POINT IX

THE ISSUE REGARDING PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

The issue regarding prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument is procedurally barred. Engle v. Dugger, 576 So. 2d 696 (Fla. 1991); Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1990); Correll v. Dugger, 558 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 1990); Smith v. Dugger, 565 So. 2d 1293 (Fla. 1990); Buenoano v. State, 559 So. 2d 1116 (Fla. 1990); Henderson v. Dugger, 522 So. 2d 835 (Fla. 1988). In fact, there was no objection to the comments and the issue was not even preserved for appellate review. See Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1978). Furthermore, the comments were made during rebuttal argument and were proper rebuttal.

POINT X

THE ISSUE REGARDING INSTRUCTING THE JURY THEY MUST REACH A MAJORITY VOTE ON WHETHER THE CONVICTION WAS FOR PREMEDITATED OR FELONY MURDER IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

The issue regarding the jury instructions is procedurally barred for failure to raise it on direct appeal. Engle v. Dugger, 576 So. 2d 696 (Fla. 1991); Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1990); Correll v. Dugger, 558 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 1990); Smith v. Dugger, 565 So. 2d 1293 (Fla. 1990); Buenoano v. State, 559 So. 2d 1116 (Fla. 1990); Henderson v. Dugger, 522 So. 2d 835 (Fla. 1988). Furthermore, the issue was not raised in either the motion for postconviction relief or amendment/supplement to that motion, and the issue is waived. Duest v. State, 555 So. 2d 849 Schad v. Arizona, 111 S.Ct. 2491 (1991) addresses (Fla. 1989). the questions raised by Rogers although he has changed the numbers from a unanimous jury verdict to a majority of seven. Rogers raised a similar issue regarding general verdicts on direct appeal which this court rejected. Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526, 536 (Fla. 1987).

POINT XI

THE ISSUE REGARDING INSTRUCTIONS ON AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Rogers claims the jury instructions on the five aggravating circumstances have been invalidated pursuant to Espinosa v. Florida, 112 S.Ct. 2926 (1992) which he claims is a change in law. Espinosa is based on Shell v. Mississippi, 478 U.S. ____, 111 S.Ct. 313, 212 L.Ed.2d 1 (1990); Maynard v. Cartwright, 486 U.S. 356, 108 S.Ct. 1853, 100 L.Ed.2d 372 (1988); and Godfrey v. Georgia, 446 U.S. 420, 100 S.Ct. 1759, 64 L.Ed.2d 398 (1980) and is not a change in law. Espinosa, 112 S.Ct. at 2928; See also Sochor v. Florida, 112 S.Ct. 2114, 2119 (1992).

This issue was not preserved for appellate review and is procedurally barred in postconviction proceedings. There was no the constitutionality of pretrial motion regarding the instructions, no requested instructions, and no objection to the instructions. The issue was not raised on direct appeal. issue is waived. Sochor, supra, 112 S.Ct. at 2120; Kennedy v. Singletary, 599 So. 2d 119 (Fla. 1992); Martin v. Singletary, 599 So. 2d 119 (Fla. 1992); Ragsdale v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly S177 (Fla. March 12, 1992). Constitutional error is not fundamental error and the failure to object to a "vague" jury instruction has never constituted fundamental error. As a reference point, it should be noted that this Court, in reviewing Booth 8 claims, found that although constitutional error may have existed when victim impact evidence was presented, said error was procedurally

⁸ Booth v. Maryland, 482 U.S. 496 (1987).

barred in cases where a defendant made no contemporaneous objection. See Parker v. Dugger, 550 So. 2d 459 (Fla. 1989), and Clark v. Dugger, 559 So. 2d 192 (Fla. 1990).

POINT XII

COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE AT THE PENALTY PHASE.

Rogers contends counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and prepare for the penalty phase. As established in Point IV, Rogers asserted his constitutional right represent himself, so he bears the consequence of any deficiency. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975); Bundy v. State, 497 So. 2d 1209 (Fla. 1986); Goode v. State, 403 So. 2d 931 (Fla. 1981). alleges that co-counsel were deficient in assistance, which allegation he attempted to buttress through Mr. Elliott's testimony. An attorney's admission of ineffectiveness is of little meaning or value under Strickland, which condemns hindsight evaluations of performance. Francis v. State, 529 So. 2d 670, 672, n.4 (Fla. 1988); See also, Johnson v. Wainwright, 463 So. 2d 207 (Fla. 1985).

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